828

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 73,195

DCA 87-1903

DEC 27 1988

SID J. WHITE

THE MIAMI HERALD PUBLISHING
COMPANY, a division of
Knight-Ridder, Inc. and
JOEL ACHENBACH,

Petitioners,
vs.

ARTSTIDES MOREJON, et al.,

Respondents.

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

THE MIAMI HERALD PUBLISHING COMPANY AND JOEL ACHENBACH

THE MIAMI HERALD
PUBLISHING COMPANY
Samuel A. Terilli, Js.
General. Counsel
One Herald Plaza
Miami, Florida 33132-1693
(305) 376-2368

THOMSON BOHRER WERTH & RAZOOK

A Partnership Including
Professional Associations
Sanford L. Bohrer, P.A.
Jerold I. Budney

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case is before this Court on the following question certified by a panel of the Third District Court of Appeal as being of great public importance:

"The central question presented for review is whether a news journalist has a qualified privilege under the First Amendment to the United States Constitution, as interpreted by the Florida Supreme Court in Morgan v. State, 337 So.2d 951 (Fla. 1976) and Tribune Co. v. Huffstetler, 489 So.2d 722 (Fla. 1986) to refuse to divulge information learned as a result of being an eyewitness to a relevant event in a criminal case - i.e., the police arrest and search of the defendant - when the journalist witnesses such an event in connection with a newsgathering mission."

(R. 103). The Third District held "the journalist has no such qualified privilege and must therefore testify. • • • ". Petitioners, The Miami Herald Publishing Company and Joel Achenbach (collectively "The Miami Herald"), seek reversal of that holding.

The Airport "Bust"

On October 2, 1986, while on routine duty at the Miami International Airport, Metropolitan Dade County Police Officers John Facchiano, Claude Noriega, and Connie Mallia observed Respondent Aristides Morejon and his traveling companion, Pablo Aloneida Lana (A. 30-31). After watching Morejon and Lana purchase tickets for a flight to New York and check their bags, the officers approached Morejon and Lana and asked to inspect the bags. Morejon and Lana both consented. All of the conversation was in English,

according to all three police officers. (A. 62, 193-7, 224-5, 203-5, 230, 234-5, 237-8). Upon inspection of the tote bags, the police found four kilos of cocaine. Morejon and Lana were arrested and charged with narcotics trafficking. (A. 65-6).

They were fully advised of their constitutional rights, again in English, and following this advice, they both gave voluntary statements in English. (A. 121-34). Morejon admitted Lana had contacted him, and he had agreed to fly from New York to Miami to pick up cocaine and return with it to New York. (A. 127). He was to be paid \$1,000 per kilo. (A. 127). At no time did Morejon state he could not understand English. (A. 57, 126-34).

The Motion to Suppress

On March 26, 1987, Morejon filed an unsworn Motion to Suppress Evidence Obtained Through an Unreasonable Search and Seizure (the "Motion to Suppress"). The Motion alleges that, although Morejon had resided in New York City since 1980, he "is not fluent in the English Language." (A. 15). The Motion to Suppress further alleges "Morejon did not understand that he had a right to refuse said search and consented to said search." (A. 15). But the Motion to Suppress does <u>not</u> state Morejon did not understand what was said to him by the officers, or that any lack of understanding of his rights was in any way connected with his asserted lack of fluency in English. (A. 15).

Morejon presented no evidence in support of this unsworm, unverified claim of lack of English fluency. He filed no

affidavit, and gave no testimony. He did not provide affidavits or testimony of friends, relatives, business acquaintances, or anyone else who has known him during the six years he has been in this country. He did not offer testimony from his co-defendant Lana or the airlines ticket agent. He did not rebut the sworn testimony of the three police officers with evidence in any form.

a

a

a

a

a.

Instead, he subpoenaed a journalist, Joel Achenbach.

Joel Achenbach's Newsaatherina Activities

Miami Herald journalist Joel Achenbach observed the events of October 2, 1986 in his professional newsgathering capacity. He was researching an article about problems at the airport, including drug trafficking. (A. 144, 87). Authorization to monitor police activities at the airport was provided through departmental channels, and the police provided Achenbach with a briefing of their routine procedures at the airport. (A. 86). Achenbach was told to remain five to six feet away from any conversations the officers might have, but that he was free to listen to those conversations. (A. 87-88). Achenbach was to accompany the police on only that single morning. (A. 88).

Therefore, but for Petitioners' journalistic decision to observe and report on police conduct at the airport, Achenbach would not have observed the events of October 2, 1986.

Upon receipt of the subpoena, Petitioners moved to quash it. (the "Motion to Quash"). (A. $\mathbf{1}$).

The Ruling On The Motion To Ouash

In accordance with what had been an unbroken line of decisions over the preceding 15 years in that jurisdiction, Petitioners asked the trial judge, Howard Gross, to grant the Motion to Quash because Morejon had failed to satisfy his burden of making a three-part factual showing to overcome the journalist's qualified privilege against being compelled to testify in a case to which he is not a party. Petitioners' Motion to Quash was heard June 23 and 25, 1987, more than eight months after Morejon's arrest. Morejon presented <u>no</u> evidence. (A. 255-6, 259).

Morejon's counsel claimed the qualified privilege simply did not apply because Achenbach was an "eyewitness to material events," namely the arrest and discovery of the evidence. (A. 248). He further contended that Achenbach's article suggested certain contradictions between the sworn testimony of the police and Achenbach's observations: (i) the police stated they spoke only in English, but the article mentioned that one word of Spanish was used at one point (for luggage); (ii) the article stated Morejon gave two consents, one to a stop and one to a search, while the police testimony suggests there was but one consent; and (iii) the article indicated the officers ran up to the defendants, while the police testimony was that the police walked more quickly than the defendants. (A. 243-245).

However, despite these contentions by his counsel,
Morejon: (i) produced no evidence he did not understand what was
said to him in English by the officers; (ii) never explained why

a

the number of consents was relevant; and (iii) never contended he was in any way startled, scared or surprised by whatever manner he was approached by the officers.

Judge Gross conceded he found this case "extremely close", but nonetheless determined Achenbach should be compelled to testify because "Mr. Achenbach was an eyewitness to a material event and does not have a First Amendment privilege in this particular case." (A. 260). Then, assuming an appellate court might disagree, Judge Gross proceeded to apply the three-part test to the facts. He found there to be "a very important question in this case of whether or not this defendant speaks English. (A. Achenbach's article indicated one word of Spanish was spoken which indicated to the Judge "he did at least hear Spanish spoken by officers who have testified there was no Spanish spoken." (A. 262). Judge Gross concluded that "the question of whether or not the defendant in this case, Mr. Morejon, understood his rights relating to the luggage is crucial in a motion to suppress" and hence is sufficiently compelling to override the First Amendment Judge Gross held the final part of the test had been met because (although there was no such evidence) Morejon had "attempted to obtain [the information] from other sources." (A. 262). He did not identify those sources.

The Decision of The Third District Court of Appeal

The Third District affirmed. It held a journalist has no privilege under any circumstances to decline to testify where

the journalist observed a "relevant event in a criminal case." The Third District also suggested or opined in dicta that, irrespective of several Second District (and numerous other) decisions to the contrary, it had "serious doubts" as to whether any journalistic work product, other than the identity of confidential sources, should be protected by a testimonial privilege. Acknowledging "forceful arguments to the contrary" and "not unimpressive" decisions to the contrary, the Third District certified the following question to this Court:

[W]hether a news journalist has a qualified privilege under the First Amendment . . to refuse to disclose information learned as a result of being an eyewitness to a relevant event in a criminal case. . . when the journalist witnesses such an event in connection with a newsgathering mission.

The Third District answered this question in the negative. Petitioners ask that this Court answer it in the affirmative, and hold anyone seeking to compel the testimony of a journalist regarding his or her journalistic work product must make the showing required by the three-part test.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

More than a decade ago, in <u>Moraan v. State</u>, 337 So.2d 951 (Fla. 1976), this Court recognized the journalist's qualified First Amendment privilege from compelled discovery. Only two years ago, the Court reaffirmed this holding in <u>Tribune Co. v. Huff-stetler</u>, 489 So.2d 722 (Fla. 1986). While the Court did not adopt a comprehensive method for adjudicating claims of the privilege,

in a special concurrence I/ Justice Sundberg endorsed the test employed by the Second District which subsequent Florida case law has refined into the "three-part test." Pursuant to this test, a party seeking to overcome the journalist's privilege has the burden of proving that the information sought must be relevant; it must not be possible to obtain the information by alternative means, and there must be a compelling interest in the information. Gadsden County Times, Inc. v. Horne, 426 \$0.2d 1234, 1241 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983).

a

а

In this case, a panel of the Third District Court concluded (i) Florida's courts have not adopted the three-part test; (ii) the burden of proof should be placed on the journalist in such cases; and (iii) it seriously doubts whether the privilege should apply when no confidential news sources are implicated. The Third District is wrong on each count.

First, the three-part test has become firmly established throughout Florida as the standard for adjudicating the reporter's privilege. The test has been adopted because it makes sense of the difficult task of striking a proper balance between competing constitutional rights. In a criminal case, the First Amendment may give way, but only when it is shown to be necessary to preserve a Sixth Amendment interest, and then only in the absence of alternative sources not impinging First Amendment freedoms. As a matter of common sense, no such need can be shown where the same

^{1/} Morgan v. State, 337 So.2d at 957.

information can be obtained from other sources, the information is not relevant to any issue in the case, or the defendant has no compelling need for the evidence.

Second, contrary to the panel below, Florida courts have correctly allocated the burden of proof to the party seeking to overcome the privilege. They have done so not simply because the party is overriding a First Amendment right, but more practically because it is a party with access to the discovery taken, not the non-party journalist, who is in the best position to argue whether the facts previously elicited in discovery satisfy each element of the three-part test. Moreover, this allocation of the burden of proof is in accord with the manner in which other evidentiary privileges are litigated.

Third, the panel below simply misapprehended the journalist's qualified privilege. The court proffered two unsupported justifications for its holding that the reporter's privilege is not applicable where the reporter has witnessed an arrest, search or seizure. First, the panel asserted "the ability of the journalist to gather and report on the witnessed event is not substantially threatened by requiring the disclosure of what was seen in a subsequent court proceeding. . . . " Second, the Court concluded "the fact that it is inconvenient for a journalist to respond to a witness subpoena and give his eyewitness testimony is of no constitutional significance; all persons who witness such events are equally inconvenienced by having to respond to such witness subpoenas. . . . " (R. 108-9). In doing so, the

Court misapprehended the rationale behind the reporter's privilege and the effect unlimited compulsory testimony would have on the functions performed by the press.

The journalist's privilege has always been grounded on the First Amendment policy that the autonomous newsgathering and editorial processes of the press must be protected from unwarranted interference, burdens, and intrusion in order to preserve the independent flow of information to the public. The privilege has never been based on the concept of "confidentiality." In fact, the confidentiality of sources is protected onlyto preserve this flow of information, not the reverse.

It is the special constitutional role of the press to "watchdog" and objectively monitor our system of criminal justice, especially arrests, searches, and seizures. Police "beat" reporters may observe and report on hundreds of police actions in a year. Much of what is learned or believed by reporters about the police may not be published or may be published at a later time. The performance of this "watchdog" role involves some of the most difficult and delicate editorial and newsgathering decisions. The reporter's privilege was recognized to prevent the burdening of this special function. Thus, the "narrow exception" to the reporter's privilege created by the court below for the witnessing of "relevant events" such as arrests, and police searches and seizures, ironically would remove any protection at all from compelled discovery into the core constitutional function performed by the press.

Moreover, contrary to the Third District's assertion, the "inconvenience" of testifying about "relevant events" witnessed, does not fall equally upon all citizens. Unlike other citizens, it is the reporter's special constitutional function to report on just such events. Thus, the Third District's analysis strikes at the core of not simply what reporters habitually do, but rather what their constitutional role requires them to do in our system. Moreover, the burden that would be placed upon the press if reporters could be routinely hauled into court to testify about "nonconfidential" information would be especially harmful. Reporters in their professional capacities are routinely and regularly "eye witnesses" to numerous arrests, accidents and witnesses' statements and conduct. If reporters had no qualified privilege from such discovery, they would soon become "testifiers", not reporters.

Finally, the facts of this case and the specific holding of the trial court demonstrate the need for the qualified privilege. The reporter was acting strictly in his professional newsgathering capacity. Even so, the court below held the privilege does not apply because the journalist was eyewitness to a "relevant event", the arrest and seizure of evidence. But the court begged the question, because there is no competent evidence in this record at all that the "event" is relevant to any genuine issue in the prosecution. The sole basis for compelling the reporter's testimony is an unsworn and unsupported motion claiming Morejon was not "fluent" in English and did not

а

understand he could refuse to "consent" to a search of his baggage. No one has testified that Morejon did not speak English or did not consent to the search, not even Morejon himself. He made no verified motion, submitted no affidavit, and introduced no testimony of friends or relatives as to his fluency in English—even though he has resided in the United States since 1980. He presented no evidence at all. And no evidence was submitted that the subpoenaed journalist could shed any light on this "issue", The sole basis for the Third District's conclusion that the reporter witnessed a "relevant event" is an unsworn motion to suppress.

This Court has twice before recognized the reporter's privilege; in passing upon it yet a third time, the bench, the press and the bar would greatly benefit from the guidance that would be provided by adoption of the three-part test. A clear allocation of the burden of proof to the party seeking to overcome the privilege would prevent needless conflicts between our fundamental rights, and be consonant with the great weight of Florida authority.

ARGUMENT

I, FLORIDA COURTS HAVE CORRECTLY ADOPTED THE THREE-PART TEST AS THE EVIDENTIARY BALANCING TEST FOR ADJUDICATING THE JOURNALISTS' OUALIFIED PRIVILEGE.

Twelve years ago, in <u>Moraan v. State</u>, **337** So.2d 951 (Fla. **1976)**, this court recognized the journalist's qualified First Amendment privilege from compelled discovery. Only two years

ago, the court reaffirmed this holding in <u>Tribune Co. v.</u>

<u>Huffstetler</u>, 489 So.2d 772 (Fla. 1986).

Although this Court in Moraan v. State, supra and Tribune Co. v. Huffstetler, supra, did not expressly adopt a specific test or standard for adjudicating the privilege, a myriad of decisions in Florida's Federal and State courts have done so. For the past fifteen years, Florida courts have uniformly followed the three-part test initially set forth by the dissenting justices in Branzburg v. Haves, 408 U.S. 665 (1972), who, together with Justice Powell, established the qualified privilege adopted by this Court in Moraan v. State and Tribune Co. v. Huffstetler:

To compel a journalist to divulge information received in his professional newsgathering capacity, Florida courts have held the party seeking such testimony must first show:

- 1. The information is relevant to a meritorious claim or defense;
- 2. There is a compelling need for disclosure sufficient to override the First Amendment interests; and
- 3. There are no alternative sources for the information less chilling of First Amendment interests.

This Court should now adopt this test.

а

A. The Three-Part Test Is Well Established in Florida.

The Opinion erroneously asserts the "three-question method" set forth in <u>Gadsden County Times</u>, <u>Inc. v. Horne</u>, 441 So.2d 1234, 1241 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>petition denied</u>, 441 So.2d 631

(Fla. 1983), "do[es] not, as urged, establish a three-part test which the party seeking the information from the journalist must satisfy in order to obtain such information . . . " (R. 106). The Third District is wrong. The First District in Horne did expressly adopt that three-part test, stating: "we adopt that test for application in Florida." 426 So.2d at 1241.

Moreover, essentially all of Florida's reported trial court and federal court decisions for the past fifteen years have applied the three-part test in determining whether a journalist can be compelled to testify. Similarly, Florida appellate courts have also adopted the three-part test, and no Florida appellate court until now has suggested the three-part test should not be applied where a qualified privilege was found to exist. This Court should not recede from this well-established rule, and should confirm that the three-part test is the proper balancing mechanism by which a court should determine whether a journalist may be compelled to testify in a given case.

1. Florida Circuit Courts Have Been Consistently Applying The Three-Part Test For the Past Fifteen Years.

Questions involving evidentiary privileges are ordinarily resolved by Circuit Judges. Their uniform application of the three-part test without confusion for fifteen uninterrupted years is impressive confirmation the test fairly adjudicates the rights and interests of all concerned.

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