ON APPLICATION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1351 Northwest 12th Street Miami, Florida 33125 Telephone: (305) 545-3003

BRUCE A. ROSENTHAL Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 227218

Counsel for Respondent

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

This court has on two occasions subsequent to <u>Branzburg</u> passed upon the question of press privilege. Neither case is dispositive of the instant one.

In <u>Morgan v. State</u>, 337 So.2d 951 (Fla. 1976), a newspaper article was published under a reporter's byline setting forth a synopsis of a sealed grand jury presentment. <u>Id</u>. at 952. On appeal from an initial contempt citation for failing to disclose the source of the information to the state attorney, the Second District Court of Appeal held that the statute in question, providing for the secrecy of grand jury proceedings, did not include a penal provision and that therefore the subject matter of the state attorney's investigation did not relate, as required, to a violation of criminal law. The conviction was reversed. <u>Id</u>. at 952. Prior to that reversal, the reporter had been held in contempt a second time for failure to answer

¹ The petitioners would undoubtedly persist in their characterization of <u>Zurcher</u> as being "overruled" by Congress, but it must observed both that the legislation is merely one of a statutory preference for subpoenas, <u>see</u> n. 13, <u>infra</u> p. 48, and that the court's resolution of the <u>constitutional</u> issues is controlling insofar as pertinent to the issues presented herein.

questions in the presence of the grand jury.

The contempt conviction for the latter refusal was upheld by the second district. Upon review, this Court initially discussed the decision in Clein v. State, 52 So.2d 117 (Fla. 1950), and noted, without expressly approving or disapproving, the conclusion in both the decision therein guashed, and of the parties before it, that Clein had been superseded by Branzburg. Id. at 953. It may be observed that the notion of supersession is somewhat puzzling, inasmuch as Clein was among the decisions cited by the Supreme Court in the development of its own Branzburg, 408 U.S. at 685, 92 S.Ct. at 2659. holding. In any event, after discussing Branzburg, this Court observed of the statute under which the contempt citation had been upheld that the sole cognizable interest sought to be vindicated was avoiding the possibility of injury to private reputation: "These contempt proceedings were not brought to punish violation of a criminal statute and were not part of an effort to obtain information needed in a criminal investigation." Id. at 956. Thus, Morgan is not controlling in the instant context.

Similarly, although in <u>Tribune Co. v. Huffstetler</u>, 489 So.2d 722 (Fla. 1986), in applying an approach of "striking the balance" between protection of confidential sources and enforcement of a criminal statute, i.e., that which proscribes disclosure of the filing of an ethics complaint, it was held that as in <u>Morgan</u>, the principal interest sought to be vindicated was a private interest in reputation, and that in the particular balance a press privilege prevailed. The limited nature of the

-20-

holding was explicitly stated:

The issue is whether a reporter, subpoenaed in a state attorney's investigation, has a qualified privilege against revealing the identity of a source whose information violated Section 112.317(6), <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1981). Weighing the <u>limited and qualified</u> privilege that a reporter has to protect his <u>sources of information</u> against the public interests in prosecution for a violation of this particular statute, we hold that the reporter's privilege prevails.

Id. at 722-723 (emphasis supplied).²

Recognizing that these decisions are narrow in scope and flexible in approach, the Petitioners have invited this court both to extend the limited and qualified privilege across the board -- to nonconfidential as well as confidential sources or information, to published as well as unpublished information, and even to eyewitness observations of crime in a public place -- and to accompany the broad privilege with a rigid three-part test. The invitation should be carefully considered and expressly declined.

FLORIDA DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DECISIONS

As can be gleaned, although not readily, from the Brief of Petitioners (at 17-20), the Florida District Court of Appeal decisions fall at various points along the spectrum of possible holdings regarding the existence, scope and application of

² The Amicus Tribune Co. asserts that "(i)n both <u>Huffstetler</u> and <u>Morgan</u>, this Court extended the privilege to encompass journalists who possessed sole knowledge of the very commission of a crime." (Amicus, Brief at 8). If true, and as to this the Amicus should be taken at its word, then perhaps re-examination of the particular balancing and case outcomes is appropriate.

a reporter's privilege. The decision below and that in Satz v. News and Sun-Sentinel Co., 484 So.2d 590 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), rev. denied, 494 So.2d 1152 (Fla. 1986) found no privilege in, respectively, eyewitness observations or photographs in a criminal context. In re Tierney, 328 So. 40 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976) found no privilege with respect to confidential sources in the investigation of a grand jury leak. While the Petitioners question the validity of Tierney because decided before this Court's decision in Morgan, the controlling distinction is that Morgan found the leak to involve a non-criminal matter, see 337 So.2d at 954, whereas Tierney did involve a criminal matter, see 328 So.2d at 42. (Compare § 905.24 with § 905.27, Fla.Stat. (1975)). Each of these decisions logically rejects application of the three-part test.

<u>Gadsden County Times, Inc. v. Horne</u>, 426 So.2d 1234 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), <u>rev. denied</u>, 441 So.2d 631 (Fla. 1983), which pronounced a presumptive privilege and three-part test, did not purport to go beyond the limited context there involved of confidential sources and a civil case. Id. at 1240-1241. <u>Kridos</u> <u>v. Vinskus</u>, 483 So.2d 727 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986) was not even a case involving reporter's privilege, but rather that of an off-duty, uninvolved police officer subpoenaed as an expert witness by a criminal defendant. <u>Id</u>. at 728. In discussing the arguments raised against the subpoena, the court observed in passing the three-prong test pronounced in <u>Gadsden County Times</u>, <u>Inc.</u> and noted that it was limited to civil cases. <u>Id</u>. at 729.

The decisions in Geyelin v. Pinellas County, 497 So.2d 999

-22-

(Fla. 2d DCA 1986) and <u>Laughlin v. State</u>, 323 So.2d 691 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 339 So.2d 1170 (Fla. 1976), do not warrant discussion because of their summary nature.

The proposition of privilege was broadly stretched in Johnson v. Bentley, 457 So.2d 507 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), applying it to non-confidential, unpublished photographs of an automobile accident, and in <u>Tribune Co. v. Green</u>, 440 So.2d 484 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), <u>rev. denied</u>, 477 So.2d 886 (Fla. 1984), applying it in a criminal case to non-confidential, published sources of information. The justifiability of the latter extension is particularly questionable.

Limitations of space do not permit extensive discussions of <u>Waterman Broadcasting of Florida, Inc. v. Reese</u>, 523 So.2d 1161 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988) and <u>CBS, Inc. v. Cobb</u>, 13 FLW 2483 (Fla. 2d DCA Nov. 7, 1988), <u>emergency petition denied</u>, No. 73,276 (Fla. Nov. 5, 1988), albeit in upholding disclosure, both signify the extensive litigation necessary to obtain even non-confidential information necessary to the prosecution or defense of a firstdegree murder case.

Finally, in <u>Carroll Contracting</u>, Inc. v. Edwards, 528 So.2d 951 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), in the first instance of its reaching a claim of privilege, the Fifth District questioned "(w)hether there is a First Amendment protection against requiring [a] newspaper to produce" nonconfidential photographs and photographs of an auto accident. Id. at 954. It did not reach the question though, because it found a sufficient basis to overcome any privilege. Id. at 954. The Respondent does not agree with the

-23-

Petitioner's assertion that the <u>Carroll Contracting</u> court considered each of the elements of the three-part test: to the contrary, the court simply gave a reasonable consideration to the respective interests involved. **Id.** at 954.

THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE: DECLINATION TO ENACT A SHIELD STATUTE, AND EXPRESS STATUTORY LIMITATION ON PRIVILEGES GENERALLY

When <u>Branzburg</u> was decided in 1972, seventeen states provided some form of statutory protection of a news reporter's confidential sources. Id., n. 27, 408 U.S. at 689, 92 S.Ct. at 2660-2661. Since <u>Branzbura</u>, in addition to those of the seventeen jurisdictions which have expanded their protections in response, nine additional states have enacted shield laws extending a newsperson's privilege. See, <u>e.g.7</u> <u>In Re Contempt of</u> <u>Wright</u>, 108 Idaho 418, 700 P.2d 40, 44 n. 1 (Idaho 1985) and <u>In</u> <u>re Roche</u>, 381 Mass. 624, 411 N.E.2d 466, 474 n. 13 (Mass. 1980) (collecting jurisdictions).

In Florida, the legislature has declined to enact any reporter's privilege,³ and to the contrary has enacted a

³ In each of the four legislative sessions following Branzburg, bills were introduced in the Florida legislature to amend the evidence code and establish some form of newsperson's privilege 1973: S.B. 104; 1974: S.B. 536: 1975: Н.В. 1307 and companion S.B. 1151; 1976: H.B. 1307 and companion S.B. 443, which generated a committee substitute. None were enacted. The 1976 committee substitute (House Judiciary - Civil) for S.B. 443 would have established a privilege and 3-part test substantially identical to that argued by the Petitioners herein. Unless the asserted privilege and 3-part test are considered etched in constitutional stone, which is highly doubtful to say the least, the legislature's declination to adopt them should be given deference. <u>Cf</u>. <u>Mayo v. American Agricultural Chemical Co</u>., 101 Fla. 279, 133 So. 885, 887 (1931); ("The omission on final enactment of a clause of the original 'bill is strong evidence that the Legislature did not intend that the statute should (Cont'd)

restrictive statute regarding privileges. The Florida Evidence Code, § 90.501, Florida Statutes (1987) provides:

Privileges recognized only as provided:

Except as otherwise provided by this chapter, any other statute or the Constitution of the United States or of the State of Florida, no person in a legal proceeding has a privilege to:

(1) Refuse to be a witness.

(2) Refuse to disclose any matter.

(3) Refuse to produce any object or writing.

(4) Prevent another from being a witness, from disclosing any matter, or from producing any other object or writing.

Thus, unlike federal courts (many decisions of which the Petitioners have relied upon at some length), which are granted case by case flexibility under Rule 501 of the Federal Rules of Evidence to develop rules of privilege, "the courts of Florida are statutorily forbidden to do so." <u>Marshall v. Anderson</u>, 459 So.2d 384, 386 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984) (holding state courts precluded from adopting academic testimonial privilege).

See also, Procter & Gamble Co. v. Swilley, 462 So.2d 1188 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) (ruling in accord with <u>Marshall</u> as to lack of authority to create an academic privilege, and also holding, inter alia, in product liability action no corporate privilege to

require that which was purposely omitted.") <u>State ex rel.</u> <u>Finlayson v. Amos</u>, 76 Fla. 26, 79 So. 433 (1918). ("There is no authority for a department of the government charged with the execution of a law, to restore a provision which the Legislature strikes from the act when in progress of its passage. Whatever the Legislature does within its constitutional authority, no other department of the government may change, modity, alter, or amend.")

refuse to disclose research furnished corporation by independent researchers it retained, notwithstanding promise to disclose researcher's data in-house only); State v. Castellano, 460 So.2d 480 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984) (despite promise of confidentiality by Citizens Dispute Settlement Program mediator to parties, including victim, of confidentiality of communications, and notwithstanding assertion that program was investigatory arm of state attorney, no legal basis under § 90.501 to create privilege, and criminal defendant could subpoena such mediator: "If confidentiality is essential to the success of the [dispute settlement] program, the Legislature is the proper branch of government from which to obtain the necessary protection."); Hope v. State, 449 So.2d 1319 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984) (upholding criminal contempt judgment against father, granted use immunity, for refusal to testify before grand jury against son; as great the value of the son-father relationship as traditionally recognized, the legislature has not recognized such a privilege in the evidence code): Girardeau v. State, 403 So.2d 513, 514 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), pet. for rev. dism., 408 So.2d 1093 (Fla. 1981) (noting, with respect state legislator's claim of privilege to refuse to testify in grand jury investigation of crime: "Section 90.501 of the recently adopted Florida Evidence Code specifically provides for the non-existence of any privilege in a legal proceeding to refuse to be a witness, to disclose any matter, or produce any documents or writings, except as provided by the Code, any other statutes, or the Constitution of the United States or of the State of Florida. Neither the Code, the

-26-

statutes, nor either Constitution expressly provides for a legislative privilege as claimed by appellant.").

As cogently observed in Marshall, 459 So.2d at 386 n. 7:

It should be noted that, consistent with the complete divergence between the federal rule and § 90.501, virtually the entire federal law of privilege is based upon the common law rather than either rule or statute. Thus, while the familiar attorneyclient and husband-wife privileges, as well as others, were adopted by the legislature in §§ 90.502-.506, their equivalents, which were contained in Proposed Federal Rules of Evidence 503 et seq., were not approved by Congress.

It may be further noted that, as a jurisprudential matter, notwithstanding the fact some of the federal court decisions cited by the Petitioners are acknowledgedly couched only in First Amendment terms, Federal Rule 501 nevertheless provides an important authoritative underpinning. The cases are additionally distinguishable on the further grounds discussed herein.

PRIVILEGE, THE THREE-PART TEST AND BURDEN

The question of whether there should be a privilege (and the circumstances in which, if there should be, it should apply) is a distinct one from the balancing process or test by which it is to be determined whether a privilege once held to apply should be held to be overcome prevail or in the particular circumstances. Since it is demonstrable from the results that obtain in different jurisdictions and in various circumstances that the very question of the existence of a reporter's privilege (and, if it exists, its scope) is far from constitutionally settled but rather is a dynamic and ongoing inquiry, the

evaluative process in weighing any privilege in a particular instance is even more constitutionally indeterminate.⁴ Put differently, if the constitution does not unequivocally dictate or require the application of a reporter's privilege, a fortiori it does not dictate the asserted three-part test or any other particular test, and the courts that have found some form of privilege have used a variety of formulations.

For instance, in <u>State v. Sandstrom</u>, 224 Kan. 573, 581 P.2d 812 (Kan. 1978), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u> sub nom</u>. <u>Pennington v. Kansas</u>, 440 U.S. 929, 99 S.Ct. 1265, 59 L.Ed.2d 485 (1979) addressing the far more protection-warranting context of confidential sources or information, the Kansas Supreme Court has observed:

> Courts applying <u>Branzburg</u> to criminal cases have generally concluded that the proper test for determining the existence of a reporter's privilege in a particular criminal case depends upon a balancing of the need of a

Among the proponents of the privilege, there is considerable disagreement concerning the specifics of a reporter's privilege. Among these points of disagreement are: who and what information should be covered by the privilege; whether the privilege should apply with equal force in civil and criminal cases, and, if not, how it should differ; what "balancing test" should be used to determine whether the disclosure of otherwise privileged information can be compelled; in what circumstances the privilege is waived; whether procedural concerns should be addressed in such a rule, and, if **so**, which ones and how.

<u>In Re Promulgation of Rules Regarding Protection of Confidential</u> <u>News Sources</u>, 395 Mass. 164, 479 N.E.2d 154, 157 (Mass. 1985).

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